



Approaches to improve chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy in solid tumors.

Focusing on current CAR models and the tumor microenvironment.

Draft: Bachelor Thesis Biomedical Sciences Hugo van den Bosch – s3814351 Supervisor: Prof. Dr. De Jong 28-06-2021

Summary

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy, which combines the recognition function of the singlechain variable Fragment (scFv) with the cytotoxic abilities of effector T-cells, has showed promising results and has been FDA approved for CARs targeting tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) of several hematologic malignancies, but similar positive results in solid tumors are lacking. Five generations with different intracellular domains have been conceived to improve effects of CAR T-cell therapy. These changes were aimed at improving CAR T-cell stimulation, increasing their persistence and/or activating intrinsic immune cells. In addition, advanced models of CARs have been created. These include universal CARs binding to targeting molecules that can target a wide range of TAAs, bi-specific or tandem CAR T-cells that combine the activation of two different CARs, inhibitory CAR T-cells that can be inactivated after recognition of a healthy tissue molecule and physiological CARs that lack the commonly used immunizing murine-scFv. CARs expressed in Natural Killer (NK) cells can enhance their inherently existing tumor-toxicity. Finally, suicide-genes can be used for quick elimination in the case of excessive toxicities.

The tumor microenvironment (TME) consists of the tumor cells, extracellular matrix (ECM) components, abnormal tumor vasculature, tumor-associated cells (TACs), cytokines, chemokines and is an acidic and hypoxic environment with specific metabolites present. All these factors are involved in the improvement of tumor proliferation and metastasis, while reducing the antitumor effectivity of the immune system and CAR T-cell therapy. Improved infiltration of the TME can be achieved by local injections near or in the tumor, with the additional proposed advantage of reduced systemic adverse effects. Several strategies targeting the altered tumor vasculature are options for improved trafficking of CAR T-cells towards tumor sites while also hindering the tumor-proliferative characteristics of the TME. The chemokine-network in the tumor can also be targeted to reduce tumor-proliferative properties, and increased tumor-infiltration of CAR T-cells can be achieved by expressing receptors in CAR T-cells for highly expressed TME chemokines. Improving ECM-degradation could also improve tumor infiltration. Targeting the TACs is another option to improve CAR T-cell response. Additionally, a strategy often applied is to target inhibitory mechanisms, using cell-extrinsic or -intrinsic strategies. Finally the metabolic environment can be targeted either altering the environment before CAR T-cell therapy or altering CAR T-cell metabolism itself.

In conclusion, although currently not very effective in solid tumors, many aspects of CAR T-cell therapies can be improved. These include choosing the right (next-) generation of CARs, maximizing infiltration and activity in the TME and need to be combined the optimal TAAs and concomitant (pre)treatment steps. This could potentially lead to CAR T-cell therapies becoming an addition to our current arsenal of treatments against solid tumors.

List of abbreviations:

CAR: chimeric antigen receptor; scFv: single-chain variable fragment; MHC: major histocompatibility complex; TAA: tumor-associated antigen; TME: tumor microenvironment; CRS: cytokine release syndrome; TLS: tumor lysis syndrome; NFAT: nuclear factor of activated T cells; TRUCKs: T cells redirected for universal cytokine-mediated killing; uniCAR: universal CARs; TM: targeting molecule; biCAR: bispecific CAR; tanCAR: tandem CAR; iCAR: inhibitory CAR; CAR-NK: CAR-natural killer cell; iCasp; inducible safety switch caspase 9; CID: chimeric inducer of dimerization; ECM: extracellular matrix; ET_BR: endothelin B receptor; VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor; RGS5: G-protein signalling 5 ; GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor; TNF: tumor necrosis factor; HSPG: heparan sulphate proteoglycan; HPSE: Heparanase; MDSC: Myeoloid derived suppressor cell; Treg: regulatory T cell; ATRA: all-trans retinoic acid; PDE-5: Phosphodiesterase-5; NSCLC: non-small cell lung carcinoma; HNSCC: head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; ADCC: antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity; PD-L: programmed death ligand; DNR: dominant negative receptor; KO: knock-out IDO: indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase; PKA: protein kinase A; ROS: reactive oxygen species

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
CAR T-cell therapy	1
Side-effects of CAR T-cell therapy	1
The chimeric antigen receptor	2
Generations of CARs	2
Advanced models of CARs	3
UniCAR T-cells	3
Bispecific CAR T-cells	4
Tandem CAR-T cells	4
Inhibitory CAR T-cells	4
Physiological CAR T-cells	4
CAR Natural Killer-cells	5
Suicide genes	5
The tumor microenvironment	5
Infiltrating the TME	6
Local delivery of CAR-T cells	6
Tumor vasculature	6
Chemokine-network in TME	7
CAR T-cell chemokine receptors	8
Extracellular Matrix	9
Optimizing activity in the TME	10
Tumor associated cells	10
Inhibitory checkpoints and cytokines	10
Metabolic and hypoxic tumor environment	11
Discussion	12
References	2

Introduction

The first ideas of engineered chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells came in the late '80s and early '90s (1,2). CARs consist of an extracellular single-chain variable fragment (scFv) region, corresponding to the antigen-recognizing domain of antibodies produced by B-cells, which is fused to an intracellular stimulatory domain and inserted in T-cells. The strategy behind CAR Tcells is to combine antigen-specificity of the antibodies that is independent of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), with the cellular cytotoxic capabilities of T-cells (2). CAR Tcell based immunotherapies provided a form of adoptive T-cell therapy with potentially higher cytotoxic capabilities than tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) used in adoptive T-cell therapy, as they could be made to target (tumor) self-antigens with high affinity. While T-cells that harbor T-cell receptors (TCRs) with those properties are usually removed from circulation or suppressed in their function, adversely affecting their antitumor function (3). These CAR T-cells might have greater possibilities in cancertherapy than or could be used in parallel to antibody-based already well established therapies aimed at, among others, tumor antigens or immune checkpoints (3).

The main positive clinical results of CAR T-cell therapy have come from hematological tumors. With the first 2 CAR T therapies targeting CD19 of B-cells in B-cell lymphomas approved in 2017, tisagenlecleucel (KYMRIAH[™]) and axicabtagen ciloleucel (YESCARTA[™]), with recently more CAR Т therapies gaining approval for other hematological malignancies (4-9). Apart from an occasional positive result, CAR-T cell therapy in solid tumors has been rather disappointing (3)(10)(11). Various reasons exist. Firstly, doselimiting toxicities do not allow for the concentrations of CAR T-cells needed for optimal antitumor results. In contrast, B-cell aplasia found after treatment of hematological malignancies is generally tolerable . Secondly, solid tumors are very heterogeneous, making it difficult to find optimal tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), while tumor antigen loss or mutation in antigens can lead to so-called antigen escape. Finally, it is very difficult to direct CAR T-cells to the tumor, to infiltrate the tumor microenvironment (TME) and

to achieve desirable anti-tumor activities in the inhibiting TME (10)(11).

This report focuses on the different designs and adjustments that have been made to CARs and indicate their improvements in relation to their persistence, safety and improved activity. Furthermore, emphasis is put on strategies aimed at improving infiltration and antitumor effects of CAR T-cells in the TME. The selection of the right TAAs to optimize antitumor effectivity while minimizing on-target off-tumor is another big threshold in the way of solid tumor treatment, but it will not be treated in this report (Rev. in (12)).

CAR T-cell therapy

The general idea behind CAR T-cell therapy combines the inherent cytotoxic abilities of T-cells obtained from a cancer patient with the introduction of a CAR that targets specific TAAs (explained in "The chimeric antigen receptor", Fig. 1a). These CAR T-cells are subsequently expanded in vitro and infused back into the patient with the goal of eliminating the TAA-expressing tumor cells (Rev. in (3)). This therapy has yielded successful FDA-approval for results and multiple hematologic malignancies, but the results have been poor in solid tumors (3)(10)(11). Around 200 clinical trials using CAR T-cell therapy for solid tumors have been registered at clinicaltrials.gov, targeting many different organs, many different antigens and using many different strategies (Rev. up to 8/20/2020(13)). From these trials, only a few patients, 35 according to (13), have shown objective responses in solid tumor treatment (11). There are several reasons for limited success in solid tumors in contrast to hematological malignancies. Solid tumors are usually not in the same compartment as where the CAR T-cells are introduced -in the peripheral blood-. Tumor cells express antigens heterogeneously that are shared with normal tissues, and are surrounded by a difficult to infiltrate and immunosuppressive TME (10)(11).

Side-effects of CAR T-cell therapy

Various side-effects occur in patients treated with CAR T-cells, in both hematological and solid tumor cases (Rev. in (14)). Most common is cytokine release syndrome (CRS), caused by the massive and immediate release of cytokines by activated CAR T-cells, resulting in various symptoms including fever, tachycardia, hypoxia and even death (14). Another serious side effect, especially apparent in hematological malignancies, is tumor lysis syndrome (TLS), which after release of intracellular substances from lysed tumor cells can lead to many metabolic disorders and can also be life-threatening (14). In addition, TAAs are almost always also (weakly) expressed on normal tissues, which leads to on-target off-tumor toxicities when CAR T-cells are activated by these antigens (14). In both hematological and solid tumors, TAAs are often (merely over-)expressed compared to normal tissues (15). In hematological tumor-patients this is generally tolerable, can be targeted using replacement immunoglobin therapy and B-cells are usually reproduced within 2 months to 2 years (16). While in solid tumors on-target adverse effects might be more debilitating, as indicated by a lethal consequence of a patient treated against metastatic colon cancer (Expl. In (13)). Neurotoxicity is also often observed after treatment with CAR T-cells, with symptoms such as confusion, delirium and seizures (14). Administration of CAR T-cells at smaller doses, or treatment at earlier stages are ways to control toxicity (15). Other methods involve different CAR designs and will be elaborated in "Advanced models of CARs"(14). Donor-derived CAR T-cells may induce graftversus-host-disease, while the often murinederived antibody used in the CAR (see "The chimeric antigen receptor") can cause immune responses against the CAR T-cells (14). Universal and physiological CARs are methods of improving protection against these adverse effects, respectively ("Advanced models of CARs")(14).

The chimeric antigen receptor

In principle, a CAR is made up of three parts (Fig. 1a)(e.g. (10), (15)). The first extracellular part is the TAA-recognizing extracellular unit, usually a scFv consisting of the variable heavy (V_H) and variable light (V_L) chain fused together with a peptide spacer. In general, it seems that the epitopes and tumor-density of and the binding-affinity to the TAAs can influence the activity of

CAR T-cells, providing another way to adjust the CAR T-cell response (10). Second is the transmembrane hinge subunit, which connects the extracellular TAA-recognizing part to the intracellular T-cell activating subunit(s), the length of this hinge can influence optimal targetbinding and T-cell activation (17). The last, intracellular, part consists in principle of subunits capable of activating the desired responses in Tcells, such as activating cytotoxic, proliferative or cytokine-releasing pathways.

Generations of CARs

Several adaptations have been made to the intracellular part of the CAR receptor to alter and optimize the desired effects of CAR T-cells after TAA-recognition, leading to the current 5 generations of CARs (Fig.1b)(Rev. in (18)).

The intracellular domain of the first generation of CAR T-cells, first explored in 1993, consists of the signal-transducing subunit of the T-cell receptor, namely CD3 ζ (2). However, the proliferation and cytotoxicity of these cells was not adequate (18). Still, the CD3 ζ remained central in following generations of CARs.

Second-generation CAR T-cells were employed, around the year 2000, with additional stimulatory subunits such as, but not limited to, CD28 or 4-1BB (19)(20). These so-called co-stimulatory molecules were added with the purpose of increasing persistence and cytotoxicity of CAR Tcells after introduction in the patient (18).

The idea behind the third generations of CAR Tcells, making their presence in the second half of the 2000s (21)(22), was to combine effects of costimulatory domains by fusion of multiple of these domains to the intracellular domain. Possibly obtaining enhanced proliferation, cytokine secretion, survival and cytolytic activities (18)(15). The fourth generation added a nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) domain to the secondgeneration domain, that induces cytokines such as IL-12 or IL-15 after CAR activation (23)(18). These were called TRUCKs, which stands for "T cells redirected for universal cytokine-mediated killing" and is also descriptive as these CAR T-cells "deliver transgenic payloads" to the tumor (18) (23). The cytokines released by these TRUCKs can stimulate the functioning of other immune cells, in fact targeting antigens that are not targeted by the CARs, thus inhibiting antigen escape, targeting antigen heterogeneity and reducing the inhibitory aspect of the TME (18)(23). In addition, they can increase persistence of CAR T-cells themselves (18). A major point of attention is the possibility of additional toxicities (18)(23).

The most recent 5th generation was first designed and expressed in T-cells in 2018 (24) and adds a IL-2 Receptor-B (IL2RB) domain between the two domains of the second generation CAR (25). This domain activates the JAK-STAT pathway leading to promotion of proliferation and prevention of terminal differentiation of CAR T-cells (25).

From the portion of clinical trials in solid tumors that indicated usage of a specific generation of CAR, 10 use or have used the first, 58 the second, 6 the third and 5 the fourth generation of CAR T-cells (7 the fourth generation safety CAR, explained in "suicide genes"). No trials currently make use or have made use of the fifth generation (13).

Advanced models of CARs

In addition to the intracellular modifications that have been performed, alterations to the extracellular domain which bind the specific targets, have also been carried out (Fig. 2)(Rev. in (26)).

UniCAR T-cells (uniCAR) or switching CAR T-cells are an interesting model for off-the-shelf therapy (Fig. 2a)(Rev. in (25)). It makes use of an extracellular CAR-domain, for instance biotin or anti-FITC (fluorescein isothiocyanate), that can bind target molecules (TM), often TAArecognizing antibodies, leading to activation of CAR T-cells (25). TMs have the advantage of being accurately dose-controllable, and can thus control T-cell activity, which could improve side effects. Moreover, they allow for easier switching between TAAs, increasing efficacy against antigen escaping and heterogeneous tumors. This ease of switching also indicates a possible use as general



Figure 1. The principle CAR design and existing generations. a. The domains of a CAR and introduction into a T cell form a CAR T-cell. b. The five generations with different intracellular domains. CD3ζ=stimulatory domain, CD28/4-1BB/ICOS/OX40/CD27=co-stimulatory domain, NFAT=Nuclear factor of activated T-cells, IL2Rβ=IL-2 Receptor domain. (15)

off-the-shelf therapies, after the necessary steps have been taken to minimize GVHD (25). UniCARs have been used in different preclinical solid tumor models, using multiple different TMs, finding positive results (e.g. (27-30)). Several clinical trials are investigating uniCARs directed against hematologic Malignancies (Rev. in (31)), and a proof-of-concept has been achieved in Acute Myeloid Leukemia patients (32). A UniCAR T-cell therapy targeting PSMA in different solid tumors is in a phase 1 clinical trial (NCT04633148). The real potential of uniCARs in solid tumors is still unknown (25).

Bispecific CAR T-cells (biCAR) contain two antigen recognition domains, linked to two distinct intracellular domains (Fig. 2b). This can create both a synergistic effect when both CARs bind their TAA, which hinders antigen escape as CAR Tcells are activated when only one of the two CARs binds its TAA, or a protective effect, when CAR Tcells are only activated when both antigens are bound. This depends largely on the antigen affinity of the CARs and their target TAA abundance ((26)(14)).Preclinical tests of bispecific CAR T-cells have shown cytotoxic abilities (33)(34) and several clinical trials are currently performed against hematological malignancies, with some promising results (35). Bispecific CAR T-cells inhibited antigen escape and increased cytotoxicity against glioblastoma models (36). Currently no solid tumor clinical trial results are available (13).

Tandem CAR-T cells (tanCARs) also consist of two antigen recognition domains, however these are interlinked (in "tandem") and fused to the same intracellular domain (Fig.2c)(37). These were

developed to target antigen loss. When both targets are bound, the stimulation of T cells is further enhanced, while TanCARs can also be activated when only one target is bound (37). TanCARs used against two antigens and even three antigens in preclinical models of glioblastoma have shown mitigation of antigen escape, improved cytotoxicity and more comparable interpatient cell-culture results, which because of the interpatient heterogeneity had previously complicated monovalent CAR design and efficacy (38)(39). Depending on the amount of the two (or three) antigens present on normal cells the on-target off-tumor toxicity can also be reduced, opening an avenue for improved safety (14).

Inhibitory CAR T-cells (iCARs) are designed to control on-target off-tumor responses using a CAR that inactivates T-cell responses after binding of an antigen expressed on normal cells (Fig.2d)(14). The intracellular domain is derived from immunoinhibitory receptors, such as PD-1 and CTLA-4, which after activation inhibits T-cell activity even if activating receptors are bound to their target as well (14). The effect of this inhibition can be temporary (40). One of the major requirements of inhibitory CARs are the identification of specific antigens that have relatively high and low expression in normal and tumor tissues respectively (14).

Physiological CAR T-cells were developed to prevent immune response and subsequent anaphylaxis to the CAR T-cells, which can happen when conventional CARs are used, as these contain scFv of murine origins (Fig.2e)(26). In this way physiological CAR T-cells, also known as



Figure 2. Advanced models of CARs. A. Universal CARs use a CAR that can bind a TAA-binding TM. B. Bispecific CARs uses two CARs fused to two distinct intracellular domains. C. Tandem CARs uses two CARs on fused to the same intracellular domain. D. Inhibitory CARs fuse a normal tissue-specific CAR to an inhibitory intracellular domain. E. Physiological CARs are not use murine derived and thus less immunogenic. (adapted from (24)).

receptor-ligand CAR T-cells, can improve persistence. Testing of physiological CAR T-cells in solid tumors is limited (26).

CAR Natural Killer-cells (CAR-NKs), not the main focus of this report, are another CAR-recipient cell-type of interest. NK-cells have been shown to be major safeguards against tumor growth and metastasis (Rev. in (41)). This inherent effector function of NK cells against metastases has led to several immunotherapeutic strategies aimed at improving NK-function, including CAR-NKs (Rev. in (42)). CAR-NKs have shown tumor-lytic abilities in models of both solid and hematological tumors (43)(44) (Rev. in(45)). Most clinical trials regarding NK cells focus on hematologic malignancies. Early results have shown good safety profiles, with no evidence of neurotoxicity, CRS or GvHD while some antitumor responses have been observed (46). Additional advantages of CAR NK- over CAR T-cells, aside from the safety profile, include higher antitumor toxicity, low expression of inhibitory receptors, better viability and lower costs (45). Several current trials focus on different solid tumors that have not shared results yet: (e.g. (NCT03692637)(NCT03692663)(NCT03941457)(N CT03415100)(NCT03940820)). Certainly, the development of CAR NK-cells is still in early stages, as compared to CAR T-cells, and many features need to be improved (46).

Suicide genes are used to be able to control CAR T-cell toxicity after introduction in the patient, as they allow rapid removal of CAR T-cells in the presence of an administered inducer (Rev. in (14)). Multiple suicide genes have been used and tested in (pre-) clinical trials, one example is inducible safety switch caspase 9 (iCasp9), which consists of a modified caspase 9 fused to a protein called FK506 binding protein. When a chemical inducer of dimerization (CID) is administered, iCasp9 is dimerized and activates a pathway resulting in apoptosis. In hematological preclinical models, administration of CID has shown to be a rapid and long-lasting elimination of the iCasp9positive CAR T-cells (e.g. (47)(48)). Clinical trials for iCasp9 are ongoing for hematopoietic stem cell transplantations and this and other suicide genes could in the future be used in the CAR T-cell treatment of solid tumors to limit toxic side effects (14). 7 clinical trials against solid tumors make use of the iCasp9 in fourth generation CAR T-cells (13). Another suicide gene of interest is the

herpes simplex virus-thymidine kinase with ganciclovir as inducing molecule (14).

The tumor microenvironment

The solid TME is a big threshold that needs to be overcome to achieve effective CAR-T cell therapy. The TME consists of the tumor cells, extracellular matrix (ECM) components, abnormal tumor vasculature, various non-malignant tumorassociated cells (TACs), such as effector immune cells, inhibitory immune cells and stromal cells like fibroblasts, various molecules, such as chemokines and cytokines, and has specific physiological and biochemical characteristics. (Fig.3)(Rev in (11)). CAR T-cells injected intravenously are not in the same compartment as the tumor cells, and the ECM together with the tumor vasculature form a physical barrier to CAR-T-cell entry (11). Some of the soluble molecules, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or andothelin-1, serve as regulation of tumor vessels, including promoting angiogenesis or downregulating the expression of adhesion molecules in the vessels, which further inhibits extravasation by effector (CAR) T-cells (11). The expression of chemokines is altered and can reduce or increase trafficking of effector (CAR) T cells and inhibitory immune cells (11). Tumor cells themselves often express ligands or receptors with inhibitory effects on T-cell activity, of which PD-L1/L2 is the most infamous example (11). This inhibitory activity is supported by inhibitory immune cells, like myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and regulatory T cells (Tregs) (11). The cytokines can have both effector functions, for instance activating effector immune cells, or inhibitory functions, such as the cytokines IL-4, IL-10 and TGF- β released by tumor cells and TACs (11). Finally the altered tumor metabolism results in the release of specific metabolites, acidification of the TME and low oxygen levels, which all negatively affect effector (CAR) T-cell functioning (11).



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the TME. All components of the TME contribute to tumorproliferative conditions, while inhibiting the effector immune cells, such as CAR T-cells. PD-L= Programmed death ligand, VEGF=vascular endothelial growth factor, ET_BR=endothelin B receptor (11)

Infiltrating the TME

Many different strategies have been deployed targeting these different aspects have been devised that could improve CAR-T cell effectivity (Fig.4)(Rev. in (10)(11)(15)).

Local delivery of CAR-T cells

Local CAR T-cell injection makes sure that a high amount of CAR T-cells is present at the tumor, and it might also help in reducing the adverse side effects as it limits systemic distribution and thus reduces the antigen recognition of normal tissues by CAR T-cells (10). Examples of injection sites are intracranial for brain tumors or infusion of the hepatic artery for liver cancers. If the tumor itself can be reached relatively easily, then a direct intratumoral injection is another option, for example in breast or seminal vesicle cancer. Even though CAR-T cell accumulation in the systemic distribution is more limited, systemic circulation of CAR T-cells can still be detected. This is for instance shown in a phase 1 clinical trial by Zauderer et al, summarized by (49), which tested intrapleurally injected CAR T-cells against pleural mesothelioma and metastasic primaries to the pleura, and circulating CAR T-cells were still detectable months following the infusion. They propose that this could give effective results also for those metastatic tumors that are difficult to reach. Out of the CAR T clinical trials in solid

tumors that indicate their injection sites, 9 are injected intraperitoneally, 19 in areas of the brain, 10 in the intrahepatric artery, 19 intratumorally, 3 transcatheter arterial infused, and 1 in both the pancreatic artery and vein (13).

Tumor vasculature

Normally, activated T cells express certain molecules, such as E- and P-selectin ligands that mediate T cells "rolling" on the endothelium of the blood vessels (15). Thereafter chemokine receptors can be activated by their ligand, of which CXCR3, CXCL9 and CXCL10 are important examples (15). This leads to the expression of the integrins, LFA-1 and VLA-4, which allow cell adhesion through ICAM-1 and V-CAM-1 respectively (15).

Tumor vasculature is different from the vasculature in normal tissues and is an important part of the low amount of T-cells precipitating in and near the solid tumor (11). There are three major differences in vasculature (11). Firstly, the absence or loose attachment of pericytes, a cell type of the vascular system, can cause leaky vessels and non-uniform bloodflow, reducing the movement of T-cells to the tumor. In addition, endothelial cells, another celltype of the vascular system, can obtain different morphologies. An example is upregulation of endothelin B receptor (ET_BR), that after interaction with tumor-secreted endothelin-1 inhibits expression of ICAM-1, and

as such reduces adhesion of effector T-cells. The final difference is called "endothelial cell anergy", which describes the downregulation in endothelial cells of adhesion molecules, including ICAM- and V-CAM-1, due to overexpression of angiogenic factors like fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) or vascular endothelial cell growth factors (VEGFs), leading to reduced T-cell infiltration in tumors.

A variety of strategies targeting the tumor vasculature exist (Fig.4a)(11).

Induced expression of the regulator of G-protein signaling 5 (RGS5), due to hypoxic circumstances, has been shown to induce abberant maturation of pericytes and in turn abberant vasculature development (50). Whereas improvement of vasculature in tumors of RGS5-deficient mice showed enhanced immune effectivity, with significant increases of infiltration by adoptively transferred T-cells, and prolonged survival in mice (50). No RGS5 inhibitors have been approved for human use as of yet (51), but this RGS5 and other regulators of pericyte function could be interesting targets for improving CAR T-cell infiltration (11). G-protein coupled receptors, with often dysregulated expression or functioning in cancers, are important targets in their treatment (Rev in. (52)).

Upregulation of ET_BR , also from the family of GPCRs, in endothelial cells has also been targeted using an inhibitor called BQ-788 (53). This led to improved adhesion of T-cells in vitro and homing to tumors in mice models of ovarian and cervical cancer (53). Several drugs such as BQ788 mentioned before and the monoclonal antibodies Rendomab B1 and B4 can inhibit the ET_BR and have shown tumor growth-inhibition in some melanoma patients and cell lines respectively (54). These results suggest that targeting ET_BR could possibly help as a neo adjuvant therapy to immunotherapies like CAR T-cell therapies (53)(11).

The VEGF-activated pathway is another example of a possible target to improve CAR T-cell infiltration into the tumor (11). In mice and murine cancer models respectively, (55) and (56) showed that VEGF inhibition, by anti-VEGF antibodies, lead to increased tumor infiltration by the (adoptively transferred (56)) T-cells. It has also been demonstrated that anti-VEGFR-2 antibodies caused the tumor vasculature to normalize and enhanced the effect of vaccine therapy (57). Again

in mouse models, some studies have shown antitumor and antiangiogenic effectivities of VEGFR-targeting CAR-T cells (e.g. (58)(59)). A clinical trial of VEGFR2-CAR T-cells only showed a partial response in 1 out of 24 patients treated (NCT01218867).

As with VEGFR, many other CARs have been designed against markers overexpressed in the blood vessels of many solid tumors, showing tumor inhibition in mouse tumor models (Rev. in (11)). However, in some cases toxicity has been reported (e.g. (59)(60)). So the recognition of VEGFR or other targets on normal vessels might be toxic and could prove to be an issue (11).

Targeting tumor blood vessels using a specific peptide fused to TNF α , called NGR-TNF, can potentially improve CAR T-cell infiltration into the TME. This fusion-product can target a particular peptide selectively expressed by the endothelial cells of angiogenic tumor vessels (61). Calcinotto et al. (2012) showed that low doses of this drug in prostate or melanoma tumor-bearing mice caused an upregulation of adhesion molecules in endothelial cells of the tumor vessels and an increase in local secretion of immunomodulating cytokines. These two effects reduced endothelial cell anergy and allowed an increased amount of immune cells to reach the tumor site (61). They also tested the efficacy of tumor vaccines or adoptive T-cell transfer and found significant increased survivaltime of the mice, even though complete regression was not found (61). A phase 2 study using NGR-TNF in combination with found doxurubicin, increased rates of progression-free survival and overall survival in relapsed ovarian cancer patients (62). These results suggest that NGR-TNF can aid the effectivity of immunotherapies (61), possibly also CAR-T cells. NGR can also be fused to other molecules with the possibility to alter the desired effects, with many options for tumor imaging as well (Rev. in (63)).

Chemokine-network in TME

The balance of chemokine networks is often altered in tumors, caused by tumor and associated cells. This induces recruitment of inhibitory immune cells and angiogenesis, prevents recruitment of effector immune cells and induces a hypoxic environment. All contributing to tumor proliferation and metastasis (15)(11). As chemokine networks are used in many ways to increase tumor proliferation, they have been treated as major targets of experimental therapies (Rev. in (11)).

One example is the lack of secretion of chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10, suppressing the attraction of effector T cells and NK cells to tumors (11). Using a murine model of ovarian cancer, it was shown that increasing the expression of these chemokines and other cytokines, such as IFNy and TNF α , using a clinically approved DNA methyl transferase inhibitor, decitabine, lead to increased duration of survival of the mice. This was ascribed to increased homing of and differentiation into effector T-cells (64). Decitabine also increased the effectivity of checkpoint inhibitors CTLA4 (64) and PD-1 (65) (see "targeting checkpoint inhibitors") when used in combination in mice models of ovarian and colorectal cancer respectively. Decitabine treatment in-vitro of CAR T-cells inhibited T-cell exhaustion through inhibition of methylation of DNA, which promoted anti-tumor effectivity of CAR T-cells in in vitro and murine tumor models (66). Although not only centered around CXCL9 and CXL10 (65) (66), it does show the possibilities of using decitabine combined with (immuno)therapy.

CXCL12 enrichment in the TME leads to advantageous circumstances for tumor proliferation and metastasis (11). Through similar reasoning as with CXCL9/10 described earlier but in reverse, antagonists of the action of CXCL12 on its receptor CXCR4 have been tested and found to be effective in inhibiting tumor development in mouse models including breast cancer metastasis (67), using small interfering RNAs targeting CXCR4 mRNA. A CXCR4 antagonist in combination with a PD-1 inhibitor in advanced refractory solid tumors showed a satisfactory safety profile, with stable disease in 4 out of 9 patients (68). (CXCL12/CXCR4 axis Rev. in (69), targeting CXCL12-secreting fibroblasts treated in "tumor-associated cells").

Many other chemokine networks of the TME with various functions have been targeted (explored further in(11)). Some clinical trials have been conducted, for instance testing the safety of targeting CCR2 for pancreatic cancers (70). Testing of these chemokine-network altering drugs in combination with CAR T-cells is limited

(11), but it could aid in CAR T-cell therapy, either indepently targeting different tumor-associated pathways, improving effector (CAR T) immune cell homing or both.

CAR T-cell chemokine receptors

There is a mismatch between chemokines secreted by the tumor and tumor-associated cells and the chemokine receptors expressed on CAR Tcells (11)(15). This inhibits "homing" of CAR Tcells to the tumor (11,15). Many strategies have been deployed targeting this inequilibrium, by engineering the expression of chemokine receptors in CAR T-cells (11)(Fig.4b).

On the basis of promising results with chemokine receptors engineered in CAR T cells for malignancies (71), similar hematological strategies have been developed for solid tumors (11). For example, CCR2b expression was engineered, using retroviral or lentiviral vectors respectively, in CAR T-cells targeting GD2 expressed by neuroblastoma cells (72) and mesothelin expressed by pleural mesothelioma (73) in a human xenograft mouse model. These receptors of CCL2 increased migration and antitumor activity of the CAR T-cells in both models. Expression of CXCR2 ligands, like the protumor IL-8, is high in hepatocellular carcinoma cells (74) or can be induced by radiotherapy, which also induces CXCR1 ligand expression (75). CXCR2, or either CXCR2 or CXCR1 (75), was introduced in CAR T-cells, and results showed increased migration and antitumor effectivities in hepatocellular (74), and radiation-treated ovarian, glioblastoma and pancreatic tumors (75) in-vitro and in-vivo xenograft tumor models.

Instead of chemokine receptors, chemokine ligands IL-7 and CCL19 were expressed in CAR Tcells, in an attempt to mimic T-zone reticular cells, which maintain and form T-cell zones from which T-cells and dendritic cells can be recruited from the periphery. They found increased antitumor activity and survival of mice models of humanized mastocyma and lung carcinoma, and pancreatic adenocarcinoma (76). Interestingly, T-cells and dendritic cells had increased infiltrations into the tumor, as measured using immunohistochemistry staining on resected tumor tissues, and depletion of the normal mice T-cells decreased the antitumor activity, suggesting that these T-cells are activated by the cytokine-producing CAR T-cells (76).

Extracellular Matrix

(CAR) T-cells need to actively degrade the ECM before being able to reach the tumor site (15). One important component of the ECM surrounding the tumor are the heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPGs) (15). To degrade these HSPGs the enzyme heparanase (HPSE) is needed, which itself has a dual tumor-promoting and inhibiting function, with the latter being of interest in this case (Rev. in (77)). Caruana et al. (2015) found HPSEs to be underexpressed in invitro cultured T-lymphocytes, in contrast with "fresh" T-cells (78). They proceeded to engineer HPSE expression in CAR T-cells and found improved abilities of the CAR-T cells to degrade the ECM, infilitrate the tumor and antitumor activity in vitro and in vivo mice models, suggesting that engineering HPSE expression might improve the CAR T-cell activity, especially in tumors with stroma-rich ECMs (Fig.3c). The ECM is very complex, thus other strategies targeting other components of the ECM could also be interesting options, allowing better infiltration of CAR T-cells to the tumor sites, but also destabilising the tumor growth-enabling environment that is created by the interaction of the ECM with other components in the TME (10). CAR T-cells that target both the ECM and tumor antigens may eventually lead to improved results, however additional toxicity on ECM of healthy tissues needs to be closely monitored, and results from clinical trails are still lacking (11).



Figure 4. Strategies targeting the TME for improving CAR Tcell effectivities. a. Targeting the tumor vasculature can improve CAR T-cell trafficking, while reducing the tumor-beneficial TMF VEGF=Vascular endothelial growth factor, ET_BR =endothelin B receptor, RGS5= G-protein signalling 5. b. Targeting the chemokine network or expressing receptors increase can trafficking of CAR T-cells towards the tumor, while reducing inhibiting cells. c. Targeting of the ECM and of the stroma can increase CAR T-cell infiltration and reduce the amount of inhibiting cells. d. Targeting inhibitory immune cells and cytokines can enhance effector T-cell activities. ATRA= all-trans retinoic acid, PDF5= Phosphodiesterase 5, DNR= dominant negative receptor. e. Intrinsic and extrinsic strategies exist targeting checkpoint inhibition. f. Altering of the metabolic TME or altering metabolism of CAR T-cells can improve activities. IDO= indoleamine 2.3 dioxygenase, PKA= protein kinase A (inhibited by RIAD), **ROS=Reactive** oxygen species. Adapted from (11).

Optimizing activity in the TME

Tumor associated cells

TACs include stromal cells, such as fibroblasts, and inhibitory immune cells, such as MDSCs and Tregs, that support the inhibition of effector immune function by tumor cells (11).

Tumor-associated fibroblasts secrete CXCL12, the effect of which, as described in "chemokinenetwork in TME", can be inhibitory for T-cell trafficking and stimulatory for tumor proliferation (11).

This pathway can be targeted, in addition to CXCL12 antagonists, by targeting the fibroblasts directly (79)(Fig.4c). Fibroblast activation protein (FAP) is upregulated in most tumor types with scarce expression in normal tissues, and its function is correlated with several hallmarks of cancers, thus forming a good target for fibroblastdirected treatment (79). Several approaches exist targeting FAP, such as low molecular weight inhibitors, **FAP-activated** FAP prodrugs, antibodies and FAP-targeted CAR T-cells (rev. in (79)). Anti-FAP antibodies have not shown impressive antitumor capabilities, but could be used to target FAP when conjugated with specific active drugs or molecules (79). FAP-CARs have shown cytotoxicity in in-vitro models and increased antitumor effects and improved survival in in-vivo models of lung cancer, especially when combined with cancer cell antigen specific CAR T-cells, and models of pleural mesothelioma (80,81). Another study found that this effect was shown to be largely due to activation of the intrinsic immune system, as no results were found for immune-deficient mice (82). In some models however, FAP-CAR treatment lead to high morbidity and mortality, where FAP-positive osteogenic cells and possibly other cells of other organs were targeted (83). A phase 1 clinical trial targeting FAP and a specific cancer-associated antigen "Nectin4" in the treatment of various solid tumors is currently underway (NCT03932565), while a phase 1 clinical trial of anti-FAP-CAR T-cells against malignant pleural mesothelioma showed no toxicities, increased persistence of introduced CAR T-cells and activity in vitro (NCT01722149)(84). In general, most studies indicate that FAP-targeted treatments are not seriously toxic, and that it

might be useful in the treatment of solid tumors, especially in combination therapy, for example improving the effect of standard chemotherapeutics, as a permanent cure was usually not the result in preclinical models using FAP-CAR monotherapy (79).

Tumors utilize regulatory mechanisms to inhibit the immune system, with many immunosuppressive cells, such as MDSCs and Tregs, involved in the TME (11)(Fig.4c)

One strategy is administration of all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), which has shown MDSC reduction and effector immune cells induction in patients with renal cell carcinoma (85). Phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibition, known for vaso-dilating drugs such as Viagra/Sildenafil, can also inhibit MDSC-immune suppression, increase tumor infiltration of effector immune cells and increase the immune response in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSS) (86). Many pre-clinical and clinical trials have been performed, using ATRA or PDE-5 inhibition, for several different (models of) solid tumors (Rev. in (87)(88)), which mainly show MDSC inhibition and support for synergistic effects (chemotherapeutic) with other treatments. In general, MDSC-targeting strategies are expected to improve T cell trafficking and effectivity of adoptive immunotherapies (11). Tregs have also been targeted in many different ways (11). Antibodies targeting expressed molecules specific for Tregs, have been shown to deplete Treg cells in an antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC)-manner (89). Depletion of Tregs, or inhibiting their recruitment,

proliferation, or activity are popular targets for cancer therapies in clinical and pre-clinical trials (Rev. in (89)). This has shown enhancement of vaccine T-cell immunity in mice models, but has not yet been combined with CAR T-cells (11).

Inhibitory checkpoints and cytokines

Tumor cells together with the tumor associated cells express many inhibitory ligands, such as PD1and CTLA-4-ligands, and many cytokines, such as TGF- β , IL-4 and IL-10, normally involved in regulation and balance of T cell response, that inhibit the antitumor-activity of CAR T-cells in the TME (11). Regardless of co-stimulation domain used in the CAR T-cells, the expression of PD1ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 has been shown to inhibit CAR T-cell functioning (90).

Many strategies exist targeting these PD1-ligands, which can be divided in cell-extrinsic and -intrinsic strategies (Fig.4e)(Rev. in (49)). Extrinsic strategies use checkpoint blockades, with for instance antibodies against PD-1 or PD-L1, which are approved for the treatment of some cancers, such as NSCLC, HNSCC and melanoma, and apply these in combination with CAR T-cells to increase efficacy in preclinical models (49). PD-1 blockade enhanced CAR T-cells efficacy in vitro models of neurblastoma and melanoma (91) and in vitro and vivo models of sarcoma, breast cancer, pleural mesothelioma (92)(90). A clinical trial of a combination therapy of CAR T-cells and PD-1 inhibiting antibodies (Nivolumab, Pembrolizumab respectively) is underway for patiens with glioblastoma (NCT04003649) and metastatic pleural disease coming from mesothelioma, lung cancer or breast cancer (NCT02414269). Conclusions can not be drawn from completed clinical trials, as the groups of patients were too small, and further investigation is needed to assess safety and efficacy, with the short-life and variable TME infiltration of PD-1 antibodies and risk of systemic toxicity being possible limitations of this approach (49).

PD-L1 blockade on MDSCs using antibodies or adenovirus-expressing "mini-antibodies" has been effective in enhancing CAR T-activities in mice models of colorectal cancer with liver metastasis (93) and HER2-positive tumors (94).

One intrinsic strategy is the engineered expression of anti-PD-L or anti-PD-1 antibodies by CAR T-cells, with these CAR T-cell obtaining enhanced activities in a model of renal cell carcinoma (95) and PD-L1-positive models of solid tumors (96)(97) respectively.

Engineering a "dominant negative receptor" DNR of PD-1 that is missing the intracellular signalling domain in CAR T-cells, has shown enhanced antitumor activity in mesothelioma and lung cancer mouse models (90). DNR PD-1 receptors were similar in efficacy compared to anti-PD-1 antibodies (98). Combining the PD-1 extracellular domain with a CD28 intracellular signalling domain enhanced CAR T-cell activity against solid tumors in mice (99).

Another strategy used gene-editing to create "knock-out" (KO) PD-1 CAR T-cells, which improved cytotoxicity in vitro and in vivo

(100)(101). However, this might create counterintuitively exhausted T cells and PD-1 editing might induce additional genotoxicity (49). PD-1 KO CAR T-cells are currently under clinical investigation in a variety of solid tumors (Rev. in (102)).

It is unclear whether CAR T-cell therapy in combination with checkpoint blockades can provide the necessary antitumor activity, while on-target off-tumor toxicities might become additional barriers (49).

To overcome the inhibition of the cytokine TGF- β , CAR T-cells can be made to express a DNR of TGF- β receptor. This practice has shown increased cytotoxic ability in vitro and prolonged survival in vivo in preclinical trials of several tumors, including renal cell carcinoma, melanoma (103) and prostate cancer (104). Based on the results of the preclinical trials for prostate cancer, a phase 1 clinical trial is underway using a DNR-TGFβreceptor PSMA-targeting CAR T-cell therapy for relapsed and refractory metastatic prostate cancer (NCT03089203)(104). A risk of these types is "lymphoproliferative of adjustments syndrome", which is an antigen- and growth factor-independent massive expansion of CAR T cells (105)(Fig.4d).

Fusion of the extracellular IL-4 receptor domain to the intracellular signalling domain of IL-7, a socalled inverted cytokine receptor, has been applied in CAR T-cells targeting prostate stem cell antigen (106). In an IL-4-rich environment, mimicking the IL-4 rich TME of tumors such as pancreatic cancer, these CAR T-cells showed increased antitumor activity (106). A similar strategy has also been designed to convert TGF β inhibiting signals to IL-7-like activating signals in prostate cancer, showing improved effectiveness in vitro and vivo models (107).

Metabolic and hypoxic tumor environment

Inhibition of CAR T-cells is further achieved by the creation of an environment deprived of nutrients, with low oxygen levels, an acidic pH and many metabolites with immunosuppressive characteristics (11).

An essential nutrient for T-cell metabolism is tryptophan and upregulation of the tryptophandegrading indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) by the tumor cells suppresses T-cells (11). IDO inhibitors have been shown to activate intrinsic immune effector cells, suppress inhibotory immune cells and improve therapy with checkpoint blockades, inhibiting tumor growth in models pancreatic in vivo of ductal adenocarcinoma, melanoma and glioblastoma (108-110). In a lymphoma mouse model, it was shown that treatment with lymphodepleting drugs that are frequently administered before CAR T-cells, fludarabine and cyclophosphamide, decreased IDO expression and improved CAR Tcells efficacy (111) (Fig.4f).

The TME becomes hypoxic due to excessive oxygen consumption needed for the tumor proliferation and limited oxygen supplied due to impaired vasculature. This reduces CAR T-cell effectivity, mainly due to hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) proteins that, among others, induce PD-L1 upregulation on tumor cells and MDSCs and the production of immunosuppressive metabolites (11). Hypoxia-activated prodrugs and other treatments that alter the amount of HIF present or the activities of HIF could be used in treatment of solid tumors (112). Targeting of these proteins has not yet been tested in combination with CAR T-cells in clinical trials (11) (Fig.4f).

Prostaglandin E2 and adenosine are two inhibitory metabolites that inhibit proliferation and activity of T-cells through protein kinase a (PKA). Disruption of PKA localization and thus of its functioning, using CAR T-cell coexpressing an anti-mesothelin CAR and a PKA-inhibiting peptide, resulted in increased antitumor activity in an in vivo model of mesothelioma (113)(Fig.4f).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as H_2O_2 , inhibit immune responses and are also possible targets of new strategies. Catalase-expression introduction into CAR T-cells reduced oxidative stress in the TME and enhanced in vitro antitumor effects of CAR T-cells while also improving protection and activation of intrinsic effector immune cells (11)(Fig.4f).

Overall, targeting of the metabolic and hypoxic TME could be an approach to improve therapeutic efficacy of CAR T-cell therapy. Although some preclinical trials show interesting results, currently clinical trial results are lacking (11).

Discussion

5 generations of CAR T-cells with different intracellular domains, leading to different effects, have been conceptualized. In current clinical trials, the second generation is most often used. In the case of new insights, the modular nature of the CAR will still allow for continuing refinement of CARs. Potentially allowing for the creation of specifically refined CARs for different tumor (sub)types or even patient-specific (3).

Universal CAR T-cells can be accurately dosecontrolled and can quickly switch, using different doses and types of TMs, allowing for potential extra safety and increased efficacy against antigen heterogeneous tumors. The ability to quickly switch targets could also be used in general off-the-shelf CAR T-cell therapies. Preclinical trials against solid tumors showed positive results, while a proof-of-concept has been achieved in hematological tumor patients. Clinical trials investigating uniCARs against solid tumors are still limited, and the possible exciting use of universal allogeneic CAR T-cells is still uncertain.

Bispecific and tandem CAR T-cells show promise in either mitigating antigen escape or allowing a protective effect. Clinical trials against solid tumors still lack results, but solid tumor targeting preclinical trials and clinical trials investigating hematological malignancies have shown promising results.

Healthy tissue-specific inhibition of CAR T-cells could be achieved with inhibitory CARs, which would still allow for tumor-specific activation. Clinical trials using these CARs are still lacking and better knowledge of healthy tissue-specific markers is needed.

Physiological CARs could reduce host-immune responses, but clinical testing is still limited. In addition "humanized" scFv could also cause limited host-immune responses (14).

Early results of preclinical CAR-NK models have shown good safety profiles. CAR-NKs have many other possible advantages over CAR T-cells, such as higher cytotoxicity, lower inhibitory receptors expression and cheaper costs. Several clinical trials targeting solid tumors are underway. Compared to CAR T-cell therapy experience is more limited with CAR-NKs, with many features still in need of improvement. Suicide genes, such as iCasp9, have shown reliable and quick inducer-dependent CAR T-cell degradation in pre-clinical trials. They are currently used in 7 clinical trials of solid tumortargeting CAR T-cell therapies, indicating the confidence the scientific community has in these safety switches.

The tumor microenvironment is a demanding obstacle. Many different strategies have been designed to improve tumor infiltration and cytotoxicity of T-cells in the TME.

Local injection of CAR T-cells is already in use in clinical trials for a variety of solid tumors, indicating that this is a relatively easy and attainable method to possibly improve CAR T-cell homing in the TME of solid tumors. However not all solid tumors can be reached with a local injection.

Several drugs targeting the tumor vasculature have shown improved adhesion and infiltration of (adoptively transferred) immune cells in solid tumors. This indicates a possible use in combination with CAR T-cell therapy, although research combining these drugs with CAR T-cell therapy is still limited. A bit more advanced concerning the use of CAR T-cells; VEGFR- CAR Tcell therapy, and other tumor vasculature marker targeted CAR T-cells, have shown tumor growth inhibition in pre-clinical models, but also some toxic side-effects. In addition, a clinical trial only showed a partial response. Targeting tumor vasculature in combination with CAR T-cell therapy could potentially improve effectivity, but this potential is still not conclusively supported.

Agonists or antagonists of specific chemokines and their receptors, could be used with the purpose of inhibiting the tumor-proliferative TME. (pre-)Clinical results have shown some positive results in solid tumors, in combination with for instance checkpoint inhibitors. Research investigating their possible use in combination with CAR T-cells has not yet been performed.

Insertion of specific chemokine receptors that can bind ligands released by the tumor cells, or insertion of chemokine ligands themselves, in CAR T-cells has been tested and found promising results in pre-clinical models of several tumors. The identification of more potential chemokine receptors, and testing on a clinical scale is what is needed still to support this strategy. Ensuring expression of necessary ECM-degrading enzymes, such as HPSE, is present in CAR T-cells could improve CAR T-cell therapy, but clinical trials are needed to confirm this potential. Targeting ECM components using a ECM-directed CAR is still under investigation in preclinical trials. AntiFAP-CAR T-cells targeting fibroblasts, could be used in the combination therapy with chemotherapeutics, as most clinical trials indicated an acceptable safety profile, but they have not shown curative results as monotherapy. Targeting MDSCs or Tregs has shown improved antitumor immune responses, inferring a possible combination therapy with CAR T-cell therapy, although this has not been investigated yet.

A lot of activity has been aimed at developing intrinsic or extrinsic strategies to reduce checkpoint inhibition and the action of inhibitory cytokines. The furthest developed, currently under investigations in clinical trials, for the treatment of solid tumors are combination CAR Tcell therapy with PD-1 inhibiting antibodies, PD-1 KO CAR T-cells and DNR-TGF- β receptors. Possible side effects need to be closely investigated, and results from clinical trials are still uncertain, but the use of checkpoint inhibitors in combination with CAR T-cell therapy holds a lot of promise.

Preclinical trials show promising results for the targeting of the specific molecular characteristics of the tumor environment in combination with CAR T-cell therapy. Clinical results are still lacking however, so whether using these strategies results in improved antitumor efficacies with tolerable safety profiles is still unknown.

To narrow the distance between the results obtained from preclinical and clinical trials, newer models are needed. As the often used cellcultures and immunodeficient animal models do not replicate the complex TME. (11)

In addition, metastatic sites are different from the primary tumor sites, with respect to infiltration, sensitivity to therapy and immunosuppressive properties. Thus attention must also be paid to CAR T-cell efficacy in these metastatic sites as well (49).

A big challenge not examined in this report is the lack of specific tumor-associated antigens, more insight is needed into the specific antigens expressed by specific tumors, with no or very low expression in healthy tissues, for optimal antitumor efficacy while minimizing toxicity to normal tissues (10). Using multiple target antigens, introducing healthy-tissue specific antigen inhibition or adjusting affinity are possible strategies to aid on-target off-tumor toxicity (10) (14).

Other issues not addressed in this report include the high costs of CAR T-cell treatment (14), which could at least partly be reduced if universal CAR Tcells can be adopted (25), and competition with other immunotherapies, such as CAR-NK, treated shortly, or T cell-engaging bispecific antibodies (BiTes)(Rev. in (114)). In conclusion, although currently not very effective in solid tumors, many avenues of improving CAR T-cell therapies exist. Finetuning of all these different avenues, including choosing the right (next-) generation of CARs, maximizing infiltration and activity in the TME, in combination with finding the optimal TAAs and concomitant (pre)treatment steps, could potentially lead to CAR T-cell therapies becoming an addition to our current arsenal of treatments against solid tumors.

References

- Gross G, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America [Internet]. 1989 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Jun 2];86(24):10024–8. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/content/86/24/10024
- Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the γ or ζ subunits of the immunoglobulin and Tcell receptors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2021 Jun 1];90(2):720–4. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/8421711/
- Feins S, Kong W, Williams EF, Milone MC, Fraietta JA. An introduction to chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell immunotherapy for human cancer. American Journal of Hematology [Internet]. 2019 May 18 [cited 2020 Jun 10];94(S1). Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajh.25418
- 4. FDA approves tisagenlecleucel for B-cell ALL and tocilizumab for cytokine release syndrome | FDA [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2021 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www-fda-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/drugs/resources-information-approveddrugs/fda-approves-tisagenlecleucel-b-cell-all-and-tocilizumab-cytokine-release-syndrome?platform=hootsuite
- Prasad V. Tisagenlecleucel The first approved CAR-T-cell therapy: Implications for payers and policy makers. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2021 Jun 9];15(1):11–2. Available from: www.gilead.com/news/press-releases/2017/8/gilead-
- 6. FDA approves axicabtagene ciloleucel for large B-cell lymphoma | FDA [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2021 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www-fda-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-approves-axicabtagene-ciloleucel-large-b-cell-lymphoma
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, et al. Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-Cell Therapy in Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2017 Dec 28 [cited 2021 Jun 9];377(26):2531–44. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/29226797/
- 8. FDA grants accelerated approval to axicabtagene ciloleucel for relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma | FDA [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www-fda-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/fda-grants-accelerated-approval-axicabtagene-ciloleucel-relapsed-or-refractory-follicular-lymphoma
- 9. FDA Approves First Cell-Based Gene Therapy for Adult Patients with Multiple Myeloma | FDA [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www-fda-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/news-events/press-announcements/fdaapproves-first-cell-based-gene-therapy-adult-patients-multiple-myeloma
- Fuca G, Reppel L, Landoni E, Savoldo B, Dotti G. Enhancing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Efficacy in Solid Tumors. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Jun 3];26(11):2444–51. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32015021/
- 11. Liu G, Rui W, Zhao X, Lin X. Enhancing CAR-T cell efficacy in solid tumors by targeting the tumor microenvironment. Cellular and Molecular Immunology [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2021 Jun 1];18(5):1085–95. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-021-00655-2
- 12. Townsend MH, Shrestha G, Robison RA, O'Neill KL. The expansion of targetable biomarkers for CAR T cell therapy. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2018 Jul 21 [cited 2021 Jun 28];37(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30031396/
- 13. Schaft N. The landscape of car-t cell clinical trials against solid tumors—a comprehensive overview [Internet]. Vol. 12, Cancers. MDPI AG; 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 4]. p. 1–36. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7563774/
- Yu S, Yi M, Qin S, Wu K. Next generation chimeric antigen receptor T cells: Safety strategies to overcome toxicity. Molecular Cancer [Internet]. 2019 Aug 20 [cited 2021 Jun 17];18(1):1–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-019-1057-4
- 15. D'aloia MM, Zizzari IG, Sacchetti B, Pierelli L, Alimandi M. CAR-T cells: the long and winding road to solid tumors. Cell Death & Disease. 2018;9(3):282.
- Brudno JN, Kochenderfer JN. Toxicities of chimeric antigen receptor T cells: Recognition and management [Internet]. Vol. 127, Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2016 [cited 2021 Jun 28]. p. 3321–30. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4929924/
- 17. Qu J, Mei Q, Lijun Chen -, Zhou J. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T-cell therapy in non-small-cell lung cancer

(NSCLC): current status and future perspectives. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy [Internet]. 2021;70:619–31. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-020-02735-0

- Tokarew N, Ogonek J, Endres S, von Bergwelt-Baildon M, Kobold S. Teaching an old dog new tricks: next-generation CAR T cells. British Journal of Cancer [Internet]. 2019 Jan 8 [cited 2021 Jun 16];120(1):26–37. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-018-0325-1
- Finney HM, Lawson AD, Bebbington CR, Weir AN. Chimeric receptors providing both primary and costimulatory signaling in T cells from a single gene product. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950) [Internet].
 1998;161(6):2791–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9743337
- 20. Imai C, Mihara K, Andreansky M, Nicholson IC, Pui CH, Geiger TL, et al. Chimeric receptors with 4-1BB signaling capacity provoke potent cytotoxicity against acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2021 Jun 16];18(4):676–84. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/14961035/
- Pulè MA, Straathof KC, Dotti G, Heslop HE, Rooney CM, Brenner MK. A chimeric T cell antigen receptor that augments cytokine release and supports clonal expansion of primary human T cells. Molecular Therapy [Internet].
 2005 Nov [cited 2021 Jun 16];12(5):933–41. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxyub.rug.nl/15979412/
- 22. Milone MC, Fish JD, Carpenito C, Carroll RG, Binder GK, Teachey D, et al. Chimeric receptors containing CD137 signal transduction domains mediate enhanced survival of T cells and increased antileukemic efficacy in vivo. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2021 Jun 16];17(8):1453–64. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/19384291/
- Chmielewski M, Abken H. TRUCKs: The fourth generation of CARs. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy [Internet].
 2015 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Jun 16];15(8):1145–54. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=iebt20
- 24. Kagoya Y, Tanaka S, Guo T, Anczurowski M, Wang CH, Saso K, et al. A novel chimeric antigen receptor containing a JAK-STAT signaling domain mediates superior antitumor effects. Nature Medicine [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2021 Jun 16];24(3):352–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29400710/
- 25. Kim DW, Cho JY. Recent advances in allogeneic CAR-T cells. Biomolecules [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2021 Jun 1];10(2):263. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32050611/
- 26. Mohanty R, Chowdhury CR, Arega S, Sen P, Ganguly P, Ganguly N. CAR T cell therapy: A new era for cancer treatment (Review). Oncology Reports [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Jun 16];42(6):2183–95. Available from: http://www.spandidos-publications.com/10.3892/or.2019.7335/abstract
- Raj D, Yang MH, Rodgers D, Hampton EN, Begum J, Mustafa A, et al. Switchable CAR-T cells mediate remission in metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Gut [Internet]. 2019 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Jun 2];68(6):1052–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30121627/
- 28. Lu YJ, Chu H, Wheeler LW, Nelson M, Westrick E, Matthaei JF, et al. Preclinical evaluation of bispecific adaptor molecule controlled folate receptor CAR-T cell therapy with special focus on pediatric malignancies. Frontiers in Oncology [Internet]. 2019 Mar 19 [cited 2021 Jun 2];9(MAR):151. Available from: www.frontiersin.org
- 29. Cho JH, Collins JJ, Wong WW. Universal Chimeric Antigen Receptors for Multiplexed and Logical Control of T Cell Responses. Cell [Internet]. 2018 May 31 [cited 2021 Jun 2];173(6):1438.e11. Available from: http://www.cell.com.proxy-ub.rug.nl/article/S0092867418303623/fulltext
- 30. Lee YG, Marks I, Srinivasarao M, Kanduluru AK, Mahalingam SM, Liu X, et al. Use of a single CAR T cell and several bispecific adapters facilitates eradication of multiple antigenically different solid tumors. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2019 Jan 15 [cited 2021 Jun 2];79(2):387–96. Available from: http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/
- Zhao J, Song Y, Liu D. Clinical trials of dual-target CAR T cells, donor-derived CAR T cells, and universal CAR T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. Journal of Hematology and Oncology [Internet]. 2019 Feb 14 [cited 2021 Jun 16];12(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6376657/
- 32. Wermke M, Kraus S, Ehninger A, Bargou RC, Goebeler M-E, Middeke JM, et al. Proof of concept for a rapidly switchable universal CAR-T platform with UniCAR-T-CD123 in relapsed/refractory AML. Blood [Internet]. 2021 Jun 3 [cited 2021 Jun 16];137(22):3145–8. Available from: http://ashpublications.org/blood/article-pdf/137/22/3145/1808178/bloodbld2020009759.pdf
- 33. Zhu F, Shah N, Xu H, Schneider D, Orentas R, Dropulic B, et al. Closed-system manufacturing of CD19 and dualtargeted CD20/19 chimeric antigen receptor T cells using the CliniMACS Prodigy device at an academic medical center. Cytotherapy [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2021 Jun 17];20(3):394–406. Available from: https://pubmed-

ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/29287970/

- 34. Sun LL, Ellerman D, Mathieu M, Hristopoulos M, Chen X, Li Y, et al. Anti-CD20/CD3 T cell-dependent bispecific antibody for the treatment of B cell malignancies. Science Translational Medicine [Internet]. 2015 May 13 [cited 2021 Jun 17];7(287):287ra70-287ra70. Available from: www.ScienceTranslationalMedicine.org
- Shah NN, Johnson BD, Schneider D, Zhu F, Szabo A, Keever-Taylor CA, et al. Bispecific anti-CD20, anti-CD19 CAR T cells for relapsed B cell malignancies: a phase 1 dose escalation and expansion trial. Nature Medicine [Internet].
 2020 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Jun 17];26(10):1569–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33020647/
- Hegde M, Corder A, Chow KK, Mukherjee M, Ashoori A, Kew Y, et al. Combinational Targeting offsets antigen escape and enhances effector functions of adoptively transferred T cells in glioblastoma. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jun 17];21(11):2087–101. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxyub.rug.nl/23939024/
- 37. Grada Z, Hegde M, Byrd T, Shaffer DR, Ghazi A, Brawley VS, et al. TanCAR: A novel bispecific chimeric antigen receptor for cancer immunotherapy. Molecular Therapy Nucleic Acids [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jun 17];2(7). Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/23839099/
- 38. Hegde M, Mukherjee M, Grada Z, Pignata A, Landi D, Navai SA, et al. Tandem CAR T cells targeting HER2 and IL13Rα2 mitigate tumor antigen escape. Journal of Clinical Investigation [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Jun 17];126(8):3036–52. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/27427982/
- Bielamowicz K, Fousek K, Byrd TT, Samaha H, Mukherjee M, Aware N, et al. Trivalent CAR T cells overcome interpatient antigenic variability in glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology [Internet]. 2018 Mar 27 [cited 2021 Jun 17];20(4):506–18. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5909636/
- 40. Fedorov VD, Themeli M, Sadelain M. PD-1- and CTLA-4-based inhibitory chimeric antigen receptors (iCARs) divert off-target immunotherapy responses. Science Translational Medicine [Internet]. 2013 Dec 11 [cited 2021 Jun 17];5(215). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24337479/
- 41. López-Soto A, Gonzalez S, Smyth MJ, Galluzzi L. Control of Metastasis by NK Cells [Internet]. Vol. 32, Cancer Cell. Cell Press; 2017 [cited 2021 Jun 14]. p. 135–54. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxyub.rug.nl/28810142/
- 42. Lowry LE, Zehring WA. Potentiation of natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: A review of literature [Internet]. Vol. 8, Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2017 [cited 2021 Jun 14]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5585139/
- 43. Rezvani K, Rouce RH. The application of natural killer cell immunotherapy for the treatment of cancer [Internet]. Vol. 6, Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Research Foundation; 2015 [cited 2021 Jun 14]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4648067/
- 44. Han J, Chu J, Keung Chan W, Zhang J, Wang Y, Cohen JB, et al. CAR-engineered NK cells targeting wild-type EGFR and EGFRvIII enhance killing of glioblastoma and patient-derived glioblastoma stem cells. Scientific Reports [Internet]. 2015 Jul 9 [cited 2021 Jun 14];5. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4496728/
- 45. Russick J, Torset C, Hemery E, Cremer I. NK cells in the tumor microenvironment: Prognostic and theranostic impact. Recent advances and trends. Seminars in Immunology. 2020 Apr 1;48:101407.
- 46. Rafei H, Daher M, Rezvani K. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) natural killer (NK)-cell therapy: leveraging the power of innate immunity. British Journal of Haematology [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1 [cited 2021 Jun 14];193(2):216–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33216984/
- 47. Warda W, Larosa F, Da Rocha MN, Trad R, Deconinck E, Fajloun Z, et al. CML hematopoietic stem cells expressing IL1RAP can be targeted by chimeric antigen receptor-engineered T cells. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Jun 20];79(3):663–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30514753/
- Minagawa K, Jamil MO, Al-Obaidi M, Pereboeva L, Salzman D, Erba HP, et al. In vitro pre-clinical validation of suicide gene modified anti-CD33 redirected chimeric antigen receptor T-cells for acute myeloid leukemia. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2016 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Jun 20];11(12). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27907031/
- 49. Grosser R, Cherkassky L, Chintala N, Adusumilli PS. Combination Immunotherapy with CAR T Cells and Checkpoint Blockade for the Treatment of Solid Tumors [Internet]. Vol. 36, Cancer Cell. Cell Press; 2019 [cited 2021 Jun 4]. p. 471–82. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/31715131/
- 50. Hamzah J, Jugold M, Kiessling F, Rigby P, Manzur M, Marti HH, et al. Vascular normalization in Rgs5-deficient

tumours promotes immune destruction. Nature [Internet]. 2008 May 15 [cited 2021 Jun 14];453(7193):410–4. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/18418378/

- 51. O'Brien JB, Wilkinson JC, Roman DL. Regulator of G-protein signaling (RGS) proteins as drug targets: Progress and future potentials. Journal of Biological Chemistry [Internet]. 2019 Dec 6 [cited 2021 Jun 14];294(49):18571–85. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31636120/
- 52. Wu V, Yeerna H, Nohata N, Chiou J, Harismendy O, Raimondi F, et al. Illuminating the Onco-GPCRome: Novel G protein-coupled receptor-driven oncocrine networks and targets for cancer immunotherapy. Journal of Biological Chemistry [Internet]. 2019 Jul 19 [cited 2021 Jun 14];294(29):11062–86. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6643028/
- 53. Buckanovich RJ, Facciabene A, Kim S, Benencia F, Sasaroli D, Balint K, et al. Endothelin B receptor mediates the endothelial barrier to T cell homing to tumors and disables immune therapy. Nature Medicine [Internet]. 2008 Jan [cited 2021 Jun 14];14(1):28–36. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/18157142/
- 54. Davenport AP, Kuc RE, Southan C, Maguire JJ. New Drugs and Emerging Therapeutic Targets in the Endothelin Signaling Pathway and Prospects for Personalized Precision Medicine. Physiological research [Internet]. 2018 Mar 29 [cited 2021 Jun 14];67(Suppl. 1). Available from: www.biomed.cas.cz/physiolresPhysiol.Res.67
- 55. Li B, Lalani AS, Harding TC, Luan B, Koprivnikar K, Guang HT, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor blockade reduces intratumoral regulatory T cells and enhances the efficacy of a GM-CSF-secreting cancer immunotherapy. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2006 Nov 15 [cited 2021 Jun 14];12(22):6808–16. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/17121902/
- 56. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2010 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Jun 14];70(15):6171–80. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2912959/
- Huang Y, Yuan J, Righi E, Kamoun WS, Ancukiewicz M, Nezivar J, et al. Vascular normalizing doses of antiangiogenic treatment reprogram the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment and enhance immunotherapy.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America [Internet]. 2012 Oct 23 [cited 2021 Jun 14];109(43):17561–6. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/23045683/
- 58. Wang W, Ma Y, Li J, Shi HS, Wang LQ, Guo FC, et al. Specificity redirection by CAR with human VEGFR-1 affinity endows T lymphocytes with tumor-killing ability and anti-angiogenic potency. Gene Therapy [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2021 Jun 14];20(10):970–8. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/23636245/
- 59. Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Zhao Y, Shrimali R RK, Morgan RA, et al. Gene therapy using genetically modified lymphocytes targeting VEGFR-2 inhibits the growth of vascularized syngenic tumors in mice. Journal of Clinical Investigation [Internet]. 2010 Nov 1 [cited 2021 Jun 14];120(11):3953–68. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2964987/
- 60. Petrovic K, Robinson J, Whitworth K, Jinks E, Shaaban A, Lee SP. TEM8/ANTXR1-specific CAR T cells mediate toxicity in vivo. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Jun 20];14(10). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31622431/
- 61. Calcinotto A, Grioni M, Jachetti E, Curnis F, Mondino A, Parmiani G, et al. Targeting TNF-α to Neoangiogenic Vessels Enhances Lymphocyte Infiltration in Tumors and Increases the Therapeutic Potential of Immunotherapy. The Journal of Immunology [Internet]. 2012 Mar 15 [cited 2021 Jun 14];188(6):2687–94. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/22323546/
- 62. Lorusso D, Scambia G, Amadio G, Di Legge A, Pietragalla A, De Vincenzo R, et al. Phase II study of NGR-hTNF in combination with doxorubicin in relapsed ovarian cancer patients. British Journal of Cancer [Internet]. 2012 Jun 26 [cited 2021 Jun 15];107(1):37–42. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3389423/
- 63. Zhu L, Ding Z, Li X, Wei H, Chen Y. Research Progress of Radiolabeled Asn-Gly-Arg (NGR) Peptides for Imaging and Therapy [Internet]. Vol. 19, Molecular Imaging. SAGE Publications Inc.; 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 15]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7466889/
- 64. Wang L, Amoozgar Z, Huang J, Saleh MH, Xing D, Orsulic S, et al. Decitabine enhances lymphocyte migration and function and synergizes with CTLA-4 blockade in a murine ovarian cancer model. Cancer Immunology Research [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];3(9):1030–41. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/26056145/
- 65. Yu G, Wu Y, Wang W, Xu J, Lv X, Cao X, et al. Low-dose decitabine enhances the effect of PD-1 blockade in colorectal cancer with microsatellite stability by re-modulating the tumor microenvironment. Cellular and

Molecular Immunology [Internet]. 2019 Apr 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];16(4):401–9. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/29622799/

- 66. Wang Y, Tong C, Dai H, Wu Z, Han X, Guo Y, et al. Low-dose decitabine priming endows CAR T cells with enhanced and persistent antitumour potential via epigenetic reprogramming. Nature Communications [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];12(1). Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/33462245/
- Liang Z, Yoon Y, Votaw J, Goodman MM, Williams L, Shim H. Silencing of CXCR4 blocks breast cancer metastasis. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2005 Feb 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];65(3):967–71. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3734941/
- 68. O'Hara MH, Messersmith W, Kindler H, Zhang W, Pitou C, Szpurka AM, et al. Safety and Pharmacokinetics of CXCR4 Peptide Antagonist, LY2510924, in Combination with Durvalumab in Advanced Refractory Solid Tumors. Journal of Pancreatic Cancer [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];6(1):21–31. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7097682/
- 69. Zhou W, Guo S, Liu M, Burow ME, Wang G. Targeting CXCL12/CXCR4 Axis in Tumor Immunotherapy. Current Medicinal Chemistry [Internet]. 2019 Sep 14 [cited 2021 Jun 15];26(17):3026–41. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5949083/
- 70. Nywening TM, Wang-Gillam A, Sanford DE, Belt BA, Panni RZ, Cusworth BM, et al. Targeting tumour-associated macrophages with CCR2 inhibition in combination with FOLFIRINOX in patients with borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic cancer: A single-centre, open-label, dose-finding, non-randomised, phase 1b trial. The Lancet Oncology [Internet]. 2016 May 1 [cited 2021 Jun 15];17(5):651–62. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5407285/
- 71. Di Stasi A, De Angelis B, Rooney CM, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, Foster AE, et al. T lymphocytes coexpressing CCR4 and a chimeric antigen receptor targeting CD30 have improved homing and antitumor activity in a Hodgkin tumor model. Blood [Internet]. 2009 Jun 18 [cited 2021 Jun 4];113(25):6392–402. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2710932/
- Craddock JA, Lu A, Bear A, Pule M, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, et al. Enhanced tumor trafficking of GD2 chimeric antigen receptor T cells by expression of the chemokine receptor CCR2b. Journal of Immunotherapy [Internet].
 2010 Oct [cited 2021 Jun 4];33(8):780–8. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2998197/
- 73. Moon EK, Carpenito C, Sun J, Wang LCS, Kapoor V, Predina J, et al. Expression of a functional CCR2 receptor enhances tumor localization and tumor eradication by retargeted human T cells expressing a mesothelin-specific chimeric antibody receptor. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2011 Jul 15 [cited 2021 Jun 15];17(14):4719–30. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3612507/
- 74. Liu G, Rui W, Zheng H, Huang D, Yu F, Zhang Y, et al. CXCR2-modified CAR-T cells have enhanced trafficking ability that improves treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. European Journal of Immunology [Internet]. 2020 May 1 [cited 2021 Jun 4];50(5):712–24. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/31981231/
- 75. Jin L, Tao H, Karachi A, Long Y, Hou AY, Na M, et al. CXCR1- or CXCR2-modified CAR T cells co-opt IL-8 for maximal antitumor efficacy in solid tumors. Nature Communications [Internet]. 2019 Sep 5 [cited 2021 Jun 4];10(1):4016. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11869-4
- 76. Adachi K, Kano Y, Nagai T, Okuyama N, Sakoda Y, Tamada K. IL-7 and CCL19 expression in CAR-T cells improves immune cell infiltration and CAR-T cell survival in the tumor. Nature Biotechnology [Internet]. 2018 Apr 1 [cited 2021 Jun 4];36(4):346–51. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/29505028/
- 77. Jayatilleke KM, Hulett MD. Heparanase and the hallmarks of cancer [Internet]. Vol. 18, Journal of Translational Medicine. BioMed Central Ltd; 2020 [cited 2021 Jun 14]. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7706218/
- Caruana I, Savoldo B, Hoyos V, Weber G, Liu H, Kim ES, et al. Heparanase promotes tumor infiltration and antitumor activity of CAR-redirected T lymphocytes. Nature Medicine [Internet]. 2015 May 1 [cited 2021 Jun 14];21(5):524–9. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4425589/
- Busek P, Mateu R, Zubal M, Kotackova L, Sedo A. Targeting fibroblast activation protein in cancer Prospects and caveats PubMed. Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition) [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Jun 19];23:1933–68. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29772538/
- 80. Kakarla S, Chow KKH, Mata M, Shaffer DR, Song XT, Wu MF, et al. Antitumor effects of chimeric receptor engineered human T cells directed to tumor stroma. Molecular Therapy. 2013 Aug 1;21(8):1611–20.
- 81. Schuberth PC, Hagedorn C, Jensen SM, Gulati P, van den Broek M, Mischo A, et al. Treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma by fibroblast activation protein-specific re-directed T cells. Journal of Translational Medicine

[Internet]. 2013 Aug 12 [cited 2021 Jun 19];11(1):1–11. Available from: http://www.translational-medicine.com/content/11/1/187

- 82. Wang LCS, Lo A, Scholler J, Sun J, Majumdar RS, Kapoor V, et al. Targeting fibroblast activation protein in tumor stroma with chimeric antigen receptor T cells can inhibit tumor growth and augment host immunity without severe toxicity. Cancer immunology research [Internet]. 2014 Feb 1 [cited 2021 Jun 19];2(2):154–66. Available from: www.aacrjournals.org
- 83. Tran E, Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Morgan RA, Lee CCR, Restifo NP, et al. Immune targeting of fibroblast activation protein triggers recognition of multipotent bone marrow stromal cells and cachexia. Journal of Experimental Medicine [Internet]. 2013 Jun 3 [cited 2021 Jun 19];210(6):1065–8. Available from: www.jem.org/cgi/doi/10.1084/jem.20130110
- 84. Curioni A, Britschgi C, Hiltbrunner S, Bankel L, Gulati P, Weder W, et al. A phase I clinical trial of malignant pleural mesothelioma treated with locally delivered autologous anti-FAP-targeted CAR T-cells. Annals of Oncology [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Jun 19];30:v501. Available from: http://www.annalsofoncology.org/article/S0923753419594388/fulltext
- Mirza N, Fishman M, Fricke I, Dunn M, Neuger AM, Frost TJ, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid improves differentiation of myeloid cells and immune response in cancer patients. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2006 Sep 15 [cited 2021 Jun 19];66(18):9299–307. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16982775/
- 86. Serafini P, Meckel K, Kelso M, Noonan K, Califano J, Koch W, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition augments endogenous antitumor immunity by reducing myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. Journal of Experimental Medicine [Internet]. 2006 Nov [cited 2021 Jun 19];203(12):2691–702. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17101732/
- 87. Ni X, Hu G, Cai X. The success and the challenge of all-trans retinoic acid in the treatment of cancer. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Jun 19];59:S71–80. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=bfsn20
- Cruz-Burgos M, Losada-Garcia A, Cruz-Hernández CD, Cortés-Ramírez SA, Camacho-Arroyo I, Gonzalez-Covarrubias V, et al. New Approaches in Oncology for Repositioning Drugs: The Case of PDE5 Inhibitor Sildenafil. Frontiers in Oncology [Internet]. 2021 Feb 26 [cited 2021 Jun 19];11. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7952883/
- 89. Cinier J, Hubert M, Besson L, Di Roio A, Rodriguez C, Lombardi V, et al. Recruitment and expansion of tregs cells in the tumor environment—how to target them? Cancers [Internet]. 2021 Apr 2 [cited 2021 Jun 19];13(8):1850. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8069615/
- 90. Cherkassky L, Morello A, Villena-Vargas J, Feng Y, Dimitrov DS, Jones DR, et al. Human CAR T cells with cell-intrinsic PD-1 checkpoint blockade resist tumor-mediated inhibition. Journal of Clinical Investigation [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2021 Jun 4];126(8):3130–44. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/27454297/
- 91. Gargett T, Yu W, Dotti G, Yvon ES, Christo SN, Hayball JD, et al. GD2-specific CAR T Cells Undergo Potent Activation and Deletion Following Antigen Encounter but can be Protected from Activation-induced Cell Death by PD-1 Blockade. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2016 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Jun 4];24(6):1135–49. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/27019998/
- 92. John LB, Devaud C, Duong CPM, Yong CS, Beavis PA, Haynes NM, et al. Anti-PD-1 antibody therapy potently enhances the eradication of established tumors by gene-modified T cells. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2013 Oct 15 [cited 2021 Jun 4];19(20):5636–46. Available from: http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/
- 93. Burga RA, Thorn M, Point GR, Guha P, Nguyen CT, Licata LA, et al. Liver myeloid-derived suppressor cells expand in response to liver metastases in mice and inhibit the anti-tumor efficacy of anti-CEA CAR-T. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy [Internet]. 2015 Jul 27 [cited 2021 Jun 3];64(7):817–29. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25850344/
- 94. Tanoue K, Shaw AR, Watanabe N, Porter C, Rana B, Gottschalk S, et al. Armed oncolytic adenovirus-expressing PD-L1 mini-body enhances antitumor effects of Chimeric antigen receptor t cells in solid tumors. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2017 Apr 15 [cited 2021 Jun 4];77(8):2040–51. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxyub.rug.nl/28235763/
- 95. Suarez ER, Chang DK, Sun J, Sui J, Freeman GJ, Signoretti S, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells secreting anti-PD-L1 antibodies more effectively regress renal cell carcinoma in a humanized mouse model. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2016 Jun 7 [cited 2021 Jun 4];7(23):34341–55. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5085160/
- 96. Li S, Siriwon N, Zhang X, Yang S, Jin T, He F, et al. Enhanced cancer immunotherapy by chimeric antigen receptor-

modified T cells engineered to secrete checkpoint inhibitors. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2017 Nov 15 [cited 2021 Jun 20];23(22):6982–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28912137/

- 97. Rafiq S, Yeku OO, Jackson HJ, Purdon TJ, van Leeuwen DG, Drakes DJ, et al. Targeted delivery of a PD-1-blocking scFV by CAR-T cells enhances anti-tumor efficacy in vivo. Nature Biotechnology [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Jun 20];36(9):847–58. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6126939/
- 98. Dozier J, Chen N, Saini J, Chintala N, Adusumilli P. MA11.01 Comparative Efficacy of T-Cell Intrinsic Versus Extrinsic PD-1 Blockade to Overcome PD-L1+ Tumor-Mediated Exhaustion. Journal of Thoracic Oncology [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2021 Jun 4];13(10):S392. Available from: http://www.jto.org/article/S1556086418313613/fulltext
- 99. Liu X, Ranganathan R, Jiang S, Fang C, Sun J, Kim S, et al. A chimeric switch-receptor targeting PD1 augments the efficacy of second-generation CAR T cells in advanced solid tumors. Cancer Research [Internet]. 2016 Mar 15 [cited 2021 Jun 3];76(6):1578–90. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4800826/
- 100. Rupp LJ, Schumann K, Roybal KT, Gate RE, Ye CJ, Lim WA, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated PD-1 disruption enhances anti-Tumor efficacy of human chimeric antigen receptor T cells. Scientific Reports [Internet]. 2017 Apr 7 [cited 2021 Jun 4];7(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5428439/
- 101. Gautron AS, Juillerat A, Guyot V, Filhol JM, Dessez E, Duclert A, et al. Fine and Predictable Tuning of TALEN Gene Editing Targeting for Improved T Cell Adoptive Immunotherapy. Molecular Therapy - Nucleic Acids [Internet]. 2017 Dec 15 [cited 2021 Jun 4];9:312–21. Available from: https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy-ub.rug.nl/29246309/
- 102. McGowan E, Lin Q, Ma G, Yin H, Chen S, Lin Y. PD-1 disrupted CAR-T cells in the treatment of solid tumors: Promises and challenges. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy. 2020 Jan 1;121:109625.
- 103. Quatromoni JG, Wang Y, Vo DD, Morris LF, Jazirehi AR, McBride W, et al. T cell receptor (TCR)-transgenic CD8 lymphocytes rendered insensitive to transforming growth factor beta (TGFβ) signaling mediate superior tumor regression in an animal model of adoptive cell therapy. Journal of Translational Medicine [Internet]. 2012 Jun 19 [cited 2021 Jun 19];10(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22713761/
- 104. Kloss CC, Lee J, Zhang A, Chen F, Melenhorst JJ, Lacey SF, et al. Dominant-Negative TGF-β Receptor Enhances PSMA-Targeted Human CAR T Cell Proliferation And Augments Prostate Cancer Eradication. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2018 Jul 5 [cited 2021 Jun 19];26(7):1855–66. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29807781/
- 105. Lucas PJ, Kim SJ, Melby SJ, Gress RE. Disruption of T cell homeostasis in mice expressing a T cell-specific dominant negative transforming growth factor β II receptor. Journal of Experimental Medicine [Internet]. 2000 Apr 3 [cited 2021 Jun 19];191(7):1187–96. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2193176/
- 106. Mohammed S, Sukumaran S, Bajgain P, Watanabe N, Heslop HE, Rooney CM, et al. Improving Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cell Function by Reversing the Immunosuppressive Tumor Microenvironment of Pancreatic Cancer. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2017 Jan 4 [cited 2021 Jun 19];25(1):249–58. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28129119/
- 107. Weimin S, Abula A, Qianghong D, Wenguang W. Chimeric cytokine receptor enhancing PSMA-CAR-T cell-mediated prostate cancer regression. Cancer Biology and Therapy [Internet]. 2020 Jun 2 [cited 2021 Jun 19];21(6):570–80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32208880/
- 108. Liu X, Shin N, Koblish HK, Yang G, Wang Q, Wang K, et al. Selective inhibition of IDO1 effectively regulates mediators of antitumor immunity. Blood [Internet]. 2010 Apr 29 [cited 2021 Jun 20];115(17):3520–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20197554/
- 109. Spranger S, Koblish HK, Horton B, Scherle PA, Newton R, Gajewski TF. Mechanism of tumor rejection with doublets of CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, or IDO blockade involves restored IL-2 production and proliferation of CD8+ T cells directly within the tumor microenvironment. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer [Internet]. 2014 Feb 18 [cited 2021 Jun 20];2(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24829760/
- 110. Wainwright DA, Chang AL, Dey M, Balyasnikova I V., Kim CK, Tobias A, et al. Durable therapeutic efficacy utilizing combinatorial blockade against IDO, CTLA-4, and PD-L1 in mice with brain tumors. Clinical Cancer Research [Internet]. 2014 Oct 15 [cited 2021 Jun 20];20(20):5290–301. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24691018/
- 111. Ninomiya S, Narala N, Huye L, Yagyu S, Savoldo B, Dotti G, et al. Tumor indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) inhibits CD19-CAR T cells and is downregulated by lymphodepleting drugs. Blood [Internet]. 2015 Jun 18 [cited 2021 Jun 20];125(25):3905–16. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25940712/
- 112. Wigerup C, Påhlman S, Bexell D. Therapeutic targeting of hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factors in cancer.

Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2016 Aug 1;164:152–69.

- 113. Newick K, O'brien S, Sun J, Kapoor V, Maceyko S, Lo A, et al. Augmentation of CAR T-cell trafficking and antitumor efficacy by blocking protein kinase a localization. Cancer Immunology Research [Internet]. 2016 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Jun 20];4(6):541–51. Available from: www.aacrjournals.org
- 114. Schwerdtfeger M, Benmebarek MR, Endres S, Subklewe M, Desiderio V, Kobold S. Chimeric Antigen Receptor– Modified T Cells and T Cell–Engaging Bispecific Antibodies: Different Tools for the Same Job. Current Hematologic Malignancy Reports [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1 [cited 2021 Jun 20];16(2):218–33. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33939108/